quademi delle regaste

8

Regaste is an old Veronese term for a tract of the Adige riverbank
that has been built up and is protected by a wall.
From the Regaste one has an excellent view of the city.
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N.B.

The text aims to provide an introduction to the historical-archaeologi-
cal vicissitudes of the city of Verona in Roman times intended to enrich
the knowledge of the general reader. A personal itinerary for visits can
be constructed by consulting the entries for individual sites and mu-
seums published on website www.archeoveneto.it of the Region of the
Veneto. For the Arena and the Roman Theatre, the reader is referred to
the volumes in this same series. Except for brief mentions, the territory
is not dealt with.

Much of the material presented, based on published sources, is subject
to revision resulting from updated information regarding sites exca-
vated, maintained and supervised by the Soprintendenza Archeologia,
Belle Arti e Paesaggio per le province di Verona, Rovigo e Vicenza.
The chronological limit chosen is 526, the year of the death of The-
odoric the Great. Dates are to be understood as CE (Christian era),
except when specifically indicated as BCE (before the Christian era).



MARGHERITA BOLLA
ROMAN VERONA






Verona and Antiquity

By the 14® century, Verona’s heritage of grand Roman monuments
had stimulated a precocious interest in antiquity. About the middle
of the next century the notion of a parallel between the capital of
the empire and Verona, which came to be described as the “sister”
of the Urbs, or a “second Rome”, began to spread among cultivated
circles in the city.

The study of Latin sources, sometimes misinterpreted, fostered vari-
ous beliefs, for example about the Veronese origin of illustrious Ro-
mans: poets Catullus and Aemilius Macer; Vitruvius, author of the
treatise De architectura; both Pliny the Elder and Pliny the Younger;
historian Cornelius Nepos; politician and writer of tragedies Pom-
ponius Secondus. Much was written, occasionally with annotations
of archaeological interest, to confute the allegiance of great men of
the past to other cities.

As studies progressed, they be-
came more objective: Lucius
Vitruvius Cerdo, architect of
the Arch of the Gavi in Ve-
rona, was soon distinguished
from the celebrated architect
and theorist, Marcus Vitruvius
Pollio. And it is considered un-
likely that Ostiglia, in antiquity
part of Veronese territory, was
the birthplace of Cornelius Ne-
pos. Only Aemilius Macer and
Catullus remained “Veronese”,
the fame of the latter adding
lustre to the city already in Ro-
man times.

Notions that took root in the

1. loggia del Consiglio in Piazza dei
local culture produced tangible  Signori.
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2. Stele of Valerius Monfanus, Augustan
age (Museo Maffeiano, inv. n. 28358).
3. Stele of Valerius Montanus, drawing
by Felice Feliciano in the Codex of
Faenza, f. 61r.
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effects in literature and art, for
example with the creation of a
series of statues for the cornice
of the Loggia del Consiglio in
Piazza dei Signori towards the
end of the 15* century (Fig.
1), or the assembly of ideal
portraits in the Protomoteca
of the same Loggia (now in the
Biblioteca Civica) in the 19®.
Although many early assump-
tions no longer held sway, such
notions contributed to make
Verona a lively centre for the
study of classical civilization.
By the 15" century embryonic
collections of Roman inscrip-
tions were being formed among
the bourgeoisie as well as the
nobility, and care was taken to
document them. For this the
work of Felice Feliciano (Figs.
2-3), creator of the Alphabetum
Romanum, was fundamental.
Contemporaneously, the desire
grew to preserve antiquities for
the sake of future generations.
While Andrea Mantegna was
involved in work at the church
of Santa Maria in Organo, two
Roman slabs were inserted
in the fagade (at the extreme
right), one of which, the funer-
ary stele of Curtia Procilla, was
inscribed with the date 1496
to commemorate its recovery

(Fig. 4).



It was, however, in the first half of the 16" century that the study
of the Roman character of Verona truly flourished, passing down to
us works still important today. In 1540 Torello Sarayna published
De origine et amplitudine civitatis Veronae (Fig. 5) in the form of a
dialogue. Soon translated from Latin to make it accessible to a wider
public, it analyses available antique sources to determine how the
city was founded, and carefully reviews the Roman monuments.
These are illustrated with drawings by Giovanni Caroto, which the
artist republished in 1560. His splendid reconstruction of the the-
atre circulated thanks to the phenomenon of printing. Enormously
popular, it came to represent Verona in the Cosmographia universalis
of Sebastian Miinster, a book republished many times (Fig. 6). Al-
so from the Cinquecento are the incomplete Antiquitates veronenses
of Onofrio Panvinio (not pub-
lished until 1648) and the work
of Alessandro Canobbio, which
has remained partly in manu-
script form.

In the same period important
collections of antiquities — not
only of local provenance — were
being formed in the city. Es-
pecially renowned was that of
nobleman Mario Bevilacqua,
with acquisitions from Rome,

Venice and Bologna displayed

in the handsome family palace
in Corso Cavour. These col-
lections were eventually dis-
solved and sold (the Bevilac-
qua marble statuary is now in
Munich), with the exception

of part of the noble Giusti col-

lection: originally consisting 4. Cast of the inscription on the sfele of

of sculptures and around forty
epigraphs, it was displayed to
embellish the famous Giardino

Curtia Procilla at S. Maria in Organo
[MATR, inv. n. 22680b).

5. Tomb of Torello Sarayna in the
church of San Fermo.
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6. Reconstruction by Caroto of the theatre of Verona in Cosmographia universalis

of Sebastian Minster (German ed. 1550).
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Giusti along with the fountains and pavilions that so delighted
visitors.

In the 17* century Ludovico Moscardo created a noteworthy collec-
tion of bronzes, ceramics, glass and inscriptions, published in Noze
overo memorie del museo di Lodovico Moscardo nobile veronese. Here
the artifacts in the collection are integrated with written sources to
illustrate various aspects of antiquity, Roman in particular. Some of
the objects came from Verona and territory, others from the anti-
quarian market. Some of the epigraphs are now in the Museo Arche-
ologico at the Roman Theatre, while the Museo Miniscalchi-Erizzo
contains a substantial nucleus of the collection.

Meanwhile, at the beginning of the Seicento the Accademia Filar-
monica commissioned Domenico Curtoni to build a meeting hall
next to the “portoni” (double gateway) adjacent to Piazza Bra. He
erected the grandiose pronaos (Fig. 7), adopting as his model and
generating element for the height of the colonnade a base in Greek
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marble (Fig. 8). The base was
recognized in the last century as
having belonged to the major
Roman temple in Verona, the
Capitolium, and presumably it
was Curtoni himself who found
it during construction work
near Piazza delle Erbe. In a cer-
tain sense, the frontal view of
the Teatro Filarmonico suggests
something of the imposing
fagade of the Verona Capiroli-
um, whose remains inspired the
architect even in the decision to
whitewash the shafts of the col-
umns of the new pronaos.

The column base just men-
tioned was probably the first
antique artifact displayed in the
area of the pronaos. In subse-
quent decades numerous epi-
graphs of mainly local origin
were transferred there from the
collections of recently deceased
members of the Academy,
among them Policarpo Palermo

7. Pronaos of the Teatro Filarmonico,
architect Domenico Curtoni (1604;
photo Ottica Nodari).

8. Marble base of a column from the
Capitolium [Museo Maffeiano, inv. n.
28179), compared fo a column base
of the pronaos of the Teatro Filarmo-
nico.

Q. Portrait of Scipione Maffei, by
Antonio Elenetti, signed and dated
"Verona 1745" (Museo Maffeiano).
10. Frontispiece of the Museum Ve-

ronense by Scipione Maffei, 1749.
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and Cesare Nichesola. A century later, when Scipione Maffei (1675-
1755; Fig. 9) assumed the task of improving the Academy’s collec-
tion, it counted at least a hundred inscribed and figurative stone
slabs, some of large dimension. Maffei wished to transform the col-
lection into an institution of European repute, a “public” museum
open to all scholars and travellers, and above all to preserve it from
being dispersed - the fate of so many private collections. The breadth
of Maffei’s interests assured that the museum now bearing his name
was endowed with objects from diverse cultures and epochs. Mostly
they are inscriptions, which he considered “speaking” antiquity, his-
torical documents that communicate directly. They come not only
from Verona but from all over Italy and abroad. For a long time
the presence of Greek originals acquired by other collectors as well
as through the Venetian antiquarian trade attracted visitors from
northern Europe passing through Verona on the Grand Tour.

After the publication of the Museum Veronense of 1749 (which il-
lustrated the collection with drawings by artists of fame like Giam-
bettino Cignaroli; Fig. 10) and after the death of Maffei, antique
epigraphs found in Veronese territory continued to arrive in the lap-
idary museum (those not pertinent to the original collection were
then transferred to the Museo Civico, founded in 1854). The last
installation of the Museo Maffeiano reimposed its original contents
(with inevitable modifications) from the time of Maffei. Generally
executed on slabs of local ammonitic limestone, the antiquities from
the area of Verona are displayed in the courtyard and pronaos.

The subdivision of the Museo Civico into several sites gave rise to
the Museo Archeologico, inaugurated in 1924 in the convent above
the Roman theatre. Artifacts from the city and surrounding areas
as well as those from the theatre itself and from private collections
acquired by the city are installed there. Notable among the latter
are the 18" century collections of Jacopo Muselli and Jacopo Verita.
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